## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## JANIS ANDERSON, individually and on behalf of all Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of JESSE J. ANDERSON, JR., Deceased

vs.

APPELLANT

NO. 2009-IA-00987-SCT

**ALPS AUTOMOTIVE, INC.** 

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT,**

JANIS ANDERSON, individually and on behalf of all Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of

JESSE J. ANDERSON, JR., Deceased

ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

## **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

Paul T. Benton, MSB # Tricia L. Beale, MSB Law Office of Paul T. Benton Post Office Box 1341 Biloxi, Mississippi 39533 Telephone:(228) 432-0305 Facsimile:(228) 432-0336

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. IN A CASE OF FIRST IMPRESSION IN MISSISSIPPI, WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF RULE 15(c) OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, FINDING THAT THE LACK OF PREJUDICE TO THE DEFENDANT IS IRRELEVANT TO THE DETERMINATION OF WHETHER AN AMENDED COMPLAINT RELATES BACK TO THE DATE OF THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT, IS IN ERROR?
- 2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF RULE 15(c) OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, FINDING THAT A 9 MONTH PERIOD BETWEEN THE TIME THE IDENTITY OF A MISTAKEN DEFENDANT IS KNOWN AND THE TIME LEAVE IS REQUESTED TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT TO ADD THE DEFENDANT IS UNREASONABLE, IS IN ERROR?
- 3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF RULE 9(h) OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF MUST EXERCISE DUE DILIGENCE TO <u>AMEND</u> THE COMPLAINT AFTER THE IDENTITY OF A FICTITIOUS PARTY IS KNOWN, IS IN ERROR?
- 4. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S INTERPRETATION OF RULE 9(h) OF THE MISSISSIPPI RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE, FINDING THAT A 9 MONTH PERIOD BETWEEN THE TIME THE IDENTITY OF A FICTITIOUS DEFENDANT IS KNOWN AND THE TIME LEAVE IS REQUESTED TO AMEND THE COMPLAINT TO ADD THE DEFENDANT IS UNREASONABLE, IS IN ERROR?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Course of the Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

This litigation centers around Jesse J. Anderson, Jr., a husband and a father who was killed in an automobile collision on February 15, 2003, as a result of the failure of the airbag in his 1998 Chevrolet Venture van to deploy. Plaintiff's expert, Richard C. Moakes, a chartered professional mechanical engineer, made a preliminary finding that a component part of the airbag called the clockspring was defective.

On February 13, 2006, Plaintiff, the Decedent's wife, filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi, for the wrongful death of her husband against Defendants, General Motors Corporation, Stan King Chevrolet, Inc., and ABC, Inc. and XYZ, Inc. (R. Vol. I at 12.

On March 10, 2006, Defendant General Motors Corporation removed the case to the United States District Court of the Southern District of Mississippi, Jackson Division based on the alleged improper joinder of Defendant Stan King Chevrolet, Inc. (R. Vol. I at 20)

On April 7, 2006, Plaintiff timely filed her Motion to Remand and Motion to Amend Complaint to add Defendant 51 Bridgestone Firestone.

On April 17, 2006, a text-only order was entered by the United States Magistrate Judge staying the case pending a ruling on the Motion to Remand.

On March 19, 2007, the United States District Court granted Plaintiff's Motion to Remand and sent the case back to the Circuit Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi. (R. Vol. I at 44)

On April 2, 2007, a certified copy of the Order granting remand was sent to the Circuit Clerk of Lincoln County, Mississippi.

On June 26, 2007, Plaintiff served Defendant General Motors Corporation with Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. (R. Vol. I at 66)

On September 13, 2007, Defendant General Motors Corporation served Plaintiff with its Supplemental Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories and Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Production. (R. Vol. I at 68) In response to Interrogatory No. 9, Defendant General Motors Corporation identified ALPS Automotive, Inc. as the clockspring supplier, not the manufacturer.

Counsel for Defendant General Motors Corporation scheduled a non-destructive inspection of the clockspring on November 30, 2007, wherein a representative from ALPS Automotive, Inc. conducted the inspection.

Thereafter, from February 2008 through September 2008, Plaintiff was served with discovery requests from Defendant General Motors Corporation from its Second Set through Seventh Set of Requests for Admissions, Second Set through Fifth Set of Interrogatories, and Second Set through Sixth Set of Requests for Production. (R. Vol. I at 74 through 140)

On August 7, 2008, Plaintiff served her First Set of Requests for Admissions to General Motors Corporation. (R. Vol. I at 96)

On August 27, 2008, General Motors served its responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Admissions wherein General Motors admitted that ALPS Automotive, Inc. "has not agreed to indemnify GM in this lawsuit." (R. Vol. I at 118; R. Vol. II at 295)

On September 16, 2008, Plaintiff circulated a proposed Agreed Order for Leave to all counsel of record to obtain agreement of counsel for leave to file her Second Amended Complaint and add ALPS Automotive, Inc. as a defendant. (R. Vol. II at 242)

On October 14, 2008, Plaintiff presented the Trial Court with the Agreed Order for

Leave, executed by counsel for the parties.

On November 24, 2008, the Court executed the Agreed Order for Leave. (R. Vol. I at 145)

On December 9, 2008, Plaintiff filed her Second Amended Complaint adding ALPS Automotive, Inc. as a defendant. (R. Vol. II at 159)

On February 19, 2009, Defendant ALPS filed its Motion for Summary Judgment alleging that the statute of limitations on Plaintiff's claims against ALPS had expired and that Plaintiff did not exercise reasonable diligence to ascertain the identity of ALPS in compliance with **Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 9(h) and 15(c) for fictitious parties only**. The Motion for Summary Judgment contained no argument whatsoever under Mississippi Rules of **Civil Procedure 15(c) regarding an amendment changing a party against whom a claim is asserted.** (R. Vol. II at 170)

On April 20, 2009, Defendant ALPS's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard before the Trial Court and a bench ruling was made granting the Motion for Summary Judgment under MRCP 9(h) solely on the grounds that nine (9) months had passed between the time Plaintiff learned that Defendant ALPS manufactured the clockspring and the time Plaintiff requested leave to amend the complaint to add ALPS as a defendant. The Trial Court did hold, however, that Plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence in ascertaining ALPS's identity which is the only applicable requirement under MRCP 9(h). (Transcript, April 20, 2009, at 38/Lines 10-16, RE 107/Lines 10-16.)

On April 23, 2009, Plaintiff filed her Motion to Reconsider (RE 51-57) because, during the April 20<sup>th</sup> hearing, counsel for ALPS admitted **for the first time** that ALPS had actual knowledge of Plaintiff's claims as early as **June 2005**, well within the original three (3) year statute of limitations on Plaintiff's claims. (Transcript, April 20, 2009, at 15 - 17; RE 85-87) The Trial Court was requested to consider Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint under MRCP 15(c) and not MRCP 9(h). (R. Vol. III at 360)

On May 14, 2009, Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider was heard before the Trial Court. (Transcript, May 14, 2009, at 38/Line 12 through 65; RE 108-135) The Trial Court denied Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider solely on the grounds that nine (9) months had passed between the time Plaintiff learned that ALPS manufactured the clockspring and the time Plaintiff requested leave to amend the complaint to add ALPS as a defendant. The Trial Court did hold that ALPS suffered **no prejudice** by the amendment, which is a requirement under MRCP 15(c), and ALPS presented absolutely no argument to the contrary in its pleadings, nor in its oral argument. (Transcript, May 14, 2009, at 64/Lines 11-15; RE 134/Lines 11-15)

On June 18, 2009, Plaintiff timely filed her Petition for Interlocutory Appeal by Permission.

On June 1, 2009, Defendant General Motors filed for bankruptcy protection. (R. Vol. III at 385)

On June 22, 2009, this Honorable Court granted Plaintiff's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and stayed the trial court proceedings pending resolution of the appeal. (R. Vol. III at 413)

#### **B.** Statement of the Facts

#### I. The death of Jesse J. Anderson, Jr.

The Decedent, Jesse J. Anderson, Jr., was a loving father and husband whose life was terminated prematurely at the age of 52 years old. He was married to the Plaintiff, Janis Anderson, for over twenty-years and had three (3) children. (R. Vol. I at 12)

4

On February 15, 2003, the Decedent, Jesse Anderson, Jr., was driving the Plaintiff to work in a 1998 Chevrolet Venture Van. The Andersons had just left their home traveling westbound on Highway 84 in Monticello, Mississippi. Around the same time, Michael Beasley was on his way home from work and was traveling eastbound on Highway 84. Mr. Beasley fell asleep and crossed the center line of the Highway hitting the Anderson's vehicle head-on. (R. Vol. I at 13)

Upon impact, Janis Anderson's airbag deployed and she survived. However, at no time during or subsequent to the impact and/or impacts sustained by the 1998 Chevrolet Venture Van did Jesse Anderson's airbag deploy. As a result, Jesse Anderson was killed. (R. Vol. I at 13-14)

In June 2005, before the Complaint was filed and within the original three (3) year statute of limitations, an inspection of the subject 1998 Chevrolet Venture Van took place. A representative from General Motors Corporation and their counsel were present at the inspection. The part of the vehicle called a clockspring was removed and visually inspected. The clockspring is the part of the vehicle that provides the necessary electrical circuit link between the steering wheel column and the steering wheel itself. It is supposed to provide a continuous electrical circuit throughout the entire steering wheel rotation range. Upon command for airbag deployment, a current is sent up the steering column through the clockspring to deploy the airbag. If this electrical circuit is broken at any location, inflation of the airbag will not commence. (RE 58-66 and RE 67 (photograph))

The only identifying marks on the clockspring are the letters "GM" followed by a set of numbers. There was no way Plaintiff could have known or even thought that anyone other than General Motors manufactured the clockspring. ALPS's name does not appear anywhere on the clockspring. In fact, the identifying name on the clockspring is General Motors. (RE 68-69) Apparently, General Motors knew who manufactured the clockspring because, after that inspection, in June 2005, General Motors notified ALPS of Plaintiff's defective product claims as was admitted by counsel for ALPS at the April 20, 2009, hearing on ALPS's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Transcript, April 20, 2009, at 15-17)

Thereafter, on February 13, 2006, the instant lawsuit was filed against General Motors

Corporation, Stan King Chevrolet, Inc., the seller of the van in question, and two (2) fictitious defendants.

After removal and remand, and the remand stay was lifted, the discovery phase of the

litigation began. On June 22, 2007, Plaintiff propounded her First Set of Interrogatories and

Requests for Production of Documents on Defendant General Motors Corporation. (R. Vol. I at

66) Relevant to the issues on appeal is Interrogatory No. 9 which is fully set forth as follows:

**INTERROGATORY NO. 9:** Please identify by name and address the company that designed and manufactured the SDM, clockspring, and airbag readiness light system used on the subject vehicle. If different components were used in different model years of the Chevrolet Venture van platform, list the following information for each model year:

- a. The vehicle;
- b. The clockspring manufacturer;
- c. The SDM manufacturer; and
- d. The airbag readiness light manufacturer.

**<u>RESPONSE</u>**: GM purchased the SDM from Delphi.

- a. General Motors manufactured the 1998 Chevrolet Venture van, in part, and assembled it in final form. GM refers plaintiff to the Prefatory Statement to these responses for additional information.
- b. Delphi Saginaw Steering Systems, which was then a division of General Motors Corporation, supplied the steering column in the 1998 Chevrolet Venture van, as an assembly that included the clockspring. The operations of Delphi Saginaw Steering are now part of Delphi Corporation. Delphi Corporation has identified Alps Automotive, Inc., 1500 Atlantic Blvd., Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326 as the clockspring supplier. GM refers plaintiff to the Prefatory Statement to these responses for additional information.
- c. Delco Electronics Corporation, which was then a wholly owned subsidiary of

Hughes Electronics Corporation, which was then a wholly own subsidiary of General Motors Corporation, supplied the SDM in the 1998 Chevrolet Venture van. Delco Electronics operations are now a part of Delphi Corporation. GM refers plaintiff to the Prefatory Statement to these responses for additional information.

 d. The airbag readiness light is part of the instrument panel cluster. GM will identify the supplier of the instrument panel cluster for the 1998 Chevrolet Venture van. GM refers plaintiff to the Prefatory Statement to these responses for additional information.

To the extent this Interrogatory asks for more, GM objects because it is overly broad, asks for information that is not relevant to the claims or defenses of any party and asks for information that will not lead to admissible evidence.

**SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE:** Delco Electronics Corporation, which was then a wholly owned subsidiary of Hughes Electronics Corporation, which was then a wholly owned subsidiary of General Motors Corporation, supplied the instrument panel cluster in the 1998 Chevrolet Venture van. Delco Electronics operations are now part of Delphi Corporation. GM refers plaintiff to the Supplemental Prefatory Statement to these responses for additional information.

(R. Vol. II at 225 - 226) In Subsection "b" of General Motors's response, it identifies ALPS

Automotive, Inc. as the clockspring supplier, not the manufacturer. The Trial Court found this

response to be a "very unsatisfactory discovery answer" and "borderline perjurious." (Transcript,

April 20, 2009, at 31/Lines 15-25)

In late October 2007, Plaintiff's counsel was contacted by General Motors's counsel

about scheduling an inspection of the clockspring. Plaintiff's counsel was advised: "GM would

like to set up a non-destructive inspection of the clockspring..." Again, there was no mention

that ALPS was more than a mere supplier of the clockspring.

The inspection took place on November 30, 2007, wherein a representative from ALPS

conducted the inspection.

Thereafter, Plaintiff was served with a barrage of discovery requests by General Motors: Second Set through Seventh Set of Requests for Admissions, Second Set through Fifth Set of Interrogatories, and Second Set through Sixth Set of Requests for Production. (R. Vol. I at 74 through 140) During this time period, Plaintiff independently discovered that General Motors and ALPS Automotive, Inc. had an indemnity agreement between them called the Foreign Supply Agreement ("FSA"). (*See* ALPS Automotive, Inc. v. General Motors Corp., 2006 WL 51141 (Mich.App.) The FSA provided that "should any claim be made against GM alleging that personal injury or property damage was caused by an alleged defect in the clockspring, GM will provide to ALPS prompt notice of such claims." Further, that "ALPS will bear the cost of settlements and judgments incurred because of a defective clockspring claim." *Id.* Note that General Motors did not provide this information in discovery. Plaintiff discovered this information independent of this case. At this point, Plaintiff could not determine that ALPS was a necessary party to the litigation. Therefore, on August 4, 2008, Plaintiff propounded her First Set of Requests for Admissions to General Motors Corporation. (R. Vol. I at 96) On August 27, 2008, General Motors Corporation served its responses. (R. Vol. II at 295) Significant is General Motors's response to **Request for Admission No. 2** as follows:

Admit or deny that you have an indemnity agreement with ALPS Automotive, Inc.

**Response:** GM objects to this request because it is not limited to whether ALPS Automotive, Inc. has agreed to indemnify GM in this lawsuit and is, therefore, overly broad and asks for information that is beyond the permissible scope of discovery set forth in MRCP 26(b)(1) because it asks for information that is not relevant to the issues raised by the claims or defenses of any party. Without waiving that objection, GM responds that it asked ALPS Automotive, Inc. to indemnify GM in this lawsuit and ALPS Automotive, Inc. has not agreed to indemnify GM in this lawsuit.

After receiving this response, it became clear that ALPS Automotive, Inc. was a necessary party to this products liability litigation. At this time, the Plaintiff not only was aware of ALPS's identity but now was also aware of facts giving rise to a cause of action against ALPS. ALPS will argue that knowing it manufactured the clockspring provided enough facts that would

cause a lawsuit to be filed against it. However, it is an established rule of law that the company that holds itself out as the manufacturer of a final product is liable for any defective components in the product. General Motors's response to Request for Admission No. 2 made it clear that ALPS had taken an adversarial position to General Motors in the instant lawsuit. It was no longer a situation of ALPS Automotive, Inc. literally standing behind the manufacturer of the final product. When ALPS refused to indemnify General Motors, ALPS stepped out from behind General Motors and exposed itself to be a Defendant in the instant case.

Consequently, and with reasonable diligence, just **nineteen (19) days** after General Motors served its Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Admissions, Plaintiff circulated a correspondence and proposed Agreed Order for Leave to all counsel of record in order for Plaintiff to obtain leave to add ALPS Automotive, Inc. as a defendant.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

When an amendment to the complaint substitutes the true name of a party against whom a claim is asserted in place of a fictitious party, or changes the name of a party due to a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, one must comply with Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 9(h) or 15(c), respectively, in order for the amended complaint to relate back to the date of the original complaint.

An amendment to the complaint that substitutes the true name of a party against whom a claim is asserted in place of a fictitious party, is governed by Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 9(h) which provides:

When a party is ignorant of the name of an opposing party and so alleges in his pleading, the opposing party may be designated by any name, and when his true name is discovered the process and all pleadings and proceedings in the action may be amended by substituting the true name and giving proper notice to the opposing party.

Further, in previous cases, this Honorable Court has held that the relation back privilege provided for fictitious parties requires the plaintiff to actually exercise a reasonably diligent inquiry into the *identity* of the fictitious party and that the Court will make a strict inquiry as to whether the plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence in ascertaining the fictitious party's real identity. (See Gasparrini v. Bredemeier, 802 So.2d 1062, at 1066 (Miss.2001)) At the May 14, 2009 hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, the Trial Court held that Plaintiff did exercise a reasonably diligent inquiry in ascertaining the identity of ALPS Automotive, Inc. (Transcript, May 14, 2009, at 62/Line 16-18), but still overruled Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider because the Trial Court opined that nine (9) months between the time Plaintiff learned that ALPS manufactured the clockspring and Plaintiff sought leave to amend the complaint was not "reasonable diligence". Plaintiff believes that this holding is in error because the reasonable diligence rule has not been held to apply to the time to amend the complaint. Notwithstanding, Plaintiff was diligent in amending the Complaint to add Defendant ALPS because just knowing the name of the manufacturer of the clockspring does not provide all of the facts necessary to give rise to a cause of action against ALPS. This Honorable Court has held that "It is a principle of general application, though, that ignorance of the opposing party for fictitious party practice extends beyond mere lack of knowledge of the opposing party's name. Even if the plaintiff knows the true name of the person, he is still ignorant of his name if he lacks knowledge of the facts giving him a cause of action against that person." Gasparrini v. Bredemeier, 802 So.2d 1062, at 1065 -1066 (Miss. 2001) (citing Womble v. Singing River Hospital, 618 So.2d 1252, at 1266-1267 (Miss.1993). Therefore, even though Plaintiff learned that ALPS manufactured the clockspring, it was not determined whether ALPS was a necessary party to be brought into this litigation until

August 27, 2008, when General Motors responded to Plaintiff's Request for Admission No. 2 that ALPS had refused to indemnify General Motors in this litigation.

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