IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-IA-00987-SCT

JANIS ANDERSON

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

ALPS AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE,

ALPS AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

ON INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Edward M. Kronk (*Pro hac vice*) Butzel Long 150 W. Jefferson, Suite 100 Detroit, MI 48226 313-225-7000 Facsimile: 313-225-7080

J. Wyatt Hazard (MS Bar Notes) Brenda B. Bethany(MS Bar Notes) Daniel Coker Horton and Bell, P.A. Post Office Box 1084 Jackson, MS 39215 601-969-7607 Facsimile: 601-969-1116 Attorneys of Record for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case invites this Honorable Court to address and compare the provisions of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 15(c) and 9(h), along with the common law requirement of "reasonable diligence" that must be satisfied by a litigant seeking to take advantage of the "relation back" provisions of the rules in order to escape the consequences of a statute of limitations that has expired. Specifically, the Court is asked to determine (i) whether a plaintiff who is no longer "ignorant of the name of an opposing party" (Rule 9(h)) or no longer laboring under a "mistake concerning the identity of the proper party" (Rule 15(c)) must then exercise "reasonable diligence" in naming the newly identified party as to whom the statute of limitations has long since run, and (ii) whether the failure to exercise reasonable diligence will be overlooked unless and until there is prejudice to the new defendant.

The Trial Court was correct in granting ALPS' Motion for Summary Judgment and finding that Anderson's claims against ALPS did not relate back to the time of the filing of her initial complaint. Anderson's delay of nine months after learning beyond question that ALPS was the manufacturer of the allegedly defective product fell well short of the reasonable diligence required in moving to add ALPS once its identity was known.

Irrespective of whether the case is measured by the provisions of Rule 9(h) (invoked by Anderson's counsel in responding to ALPS' Motion for Summary Judgment, Transcript, April 20, 2009, p. 24, APPT R.E. 94, lines 7-11) or by the provisions of Rule 15(c) (to which Anderson's counsel resorted during the Motion for Reconsideration, Transcript, May 14, 2009, p. 39, APPT R.E. 109, lines 6-16) the inescapable and controlling fact is that as of November 30, 2007, Anderson was no longer "ignorant" or "mistaken" as to who ALPS was and how it fit into this case.

Anderson asks this Court to disregard her failure to exercise reasonable diligence, relying primarily on the arguments that (1) she did not know that ALPS, the product manufacturer, was a "necessary party" to this product liability case until she learned that ALPS did not agree to indemnify General Motors, and (2) ALPS would not be prejudiced if the Court allowed the filing of her Second Amended Complaint to relate back to the filing of the original complaint. Anderson asks this Court at least to excuse, if not condone, the facts that she did nothing to determine ALPS' identity prior to the running of the statute of limitations and then, once she knew ALPS identity and involvement with certainty, she waited for over nine months before taking any action to amend her complaint to sue ALPS. Anderson seeks to rationalize her request by arguing that, unless ALPS was prejudiced, her lack of diligence should have no consequence. Under Anderson's analysis, once the statute of limitations has expired, the option for an amended complaint adding a new party to "relate back" would remain open for an undefined period of time governed not by the reasonableness of plaintiff's conduct but rather (and only) by whether the proposed defendant is prejudiced. That approach would render the statute of limitations meaningless. The Trial Court correctly found that reasonable diligence is a prerequisite to avoiding the consequences of the running of the statute of limitations, that the requirement is not waived when there is no prejudice to the belatedly added defendant, and that a delay of nine months is too long.

The Trial Court's decision is supported by established Mississippi law and makes good sense. ALPS asks that the summary judgment in its favor be affirmed on the ground that Anderson did not exercise reasonable diligence to name ALPS after she knew that it manufactured the component claimed to be defective.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

The standard of review in considering a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment is *de novo*. Satchfield v. R.R. Morrison & Son, Inc., 872 So.2d 661, 663 (¶5) (Miss. 2004); McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (¶9) (Miss. 2002). In its review, the Court must examine all the evidentiary matters before it, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Berry, 669 So.2d 56, 70 (Miss. 1996).

B. Plaintiff's Appeal Is Grounded On Flawed Factual And Legal Propositions

Reduced to their essence, Anderson's arguments to this Honorable Court rely on the following propositions:

- 1. When she filed her original complaint in February 2006, although she named two "fictitious" defendants involved in the design, manufacture, sale and repair of the vehicle and the airbag mechanism (R. at 35), "there was no way plaintiff could have known or even thought that anyone other than General Motors manufactured the clockspring." Appellant's Brief, p. 5.
- 2. Although ALPS had been identified in discovery as having *supplied*, *designed* and *validated* the clockspring, Anderson had no reason to think someone other than GM had *manufactured* the clockspring until November 30, 2007.
- 3. Even though Anderson learned on November 30, 2007 that ALPS had indeed manufactured the clockspring, Anderson "could not determine that ALPS was a necessary party to the litigation" until August 2008 when GM told Anderson that ALPS was not indemnifying GM. Appellant's Brief, p. 8.

- Anderson had no reason to sue ALPS as the manufacturer of the clockspring until Anderson learned that ALPS was not indemnifying GM.
- 5. The provisions of Rules 15(c) and 9(h) are interchangeable and equally available to a plaintiff seeking to have an amendment relate back, irrespective of the particular facts and procedural history of a case.
- 6. While reasonable diligence is required in identifying the true identity of a fictitious defendant, once the identity is established, there is no requirement for a plaintiff to exercise any sort of reasonable diligence in adding a new defendant.
- 7. If reasonable diligence were required *after* the true identity of the intended defendant is known, Anderson's unexplained nine-month delay satisfies the requirement.

None of these propositions is factually or legally supportable.

C. <u>Rules 9(h) And 15(c) Address Different Circumstances, They Are Not</u> <u>Interchangeable²</u>

It is plain from the record that Anderson's attempt to add ALPS to the lawsuit was done pursuant to Rule 9(h). The Second Amended Complaint eliminated fictitious defendant XYZ, Inc. and inserted in its place ALPS Automotive Inc. (R. at 258, APPEE R.E. 36.) That ALPS was added pursuant to Rule 9(h) was not a concept conjured up by ALPS. It was asserted unequivocally by Anderson's counsel:

> And in this case, the plaintiff did exactly what is required by 9(h), substituted. We didn't add. We didn't change. We substituted a fictitious defendant.

Transcript, April 20, 2009 at p. 24, APPT R.E. 94, lines 9-11.

In response to the grant of summary judgment, plaintiff sought to rewrite the history of the case by asking the court to view the amendment as something different from what had

 $^{^2}$ For the convenience of the court and as directed by MRAP 28(f), Rules 9 and 15 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure are reproduced and attached as Addendum A to this brief.

occurred, namely an amendment changing a party as a result of a mistake under 15(c). Plaintiff's approach on appeal necessarily rests on the assumption that the two rules are essentially interchangeable.

While amended pleadings under Rules 9(h) and 15(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure can in appropriate cases "relate back" to the date of the original pleading, the Rules by their terms address different circumstances. They are not interchangeable.

Rule 9(h) provides a vehicle for naming a "fictitious party" when a plaintiff is "ignorant" of the name of the intended defendant and "so alleges in his pleading." Once the identity of the defendant is learned, it is substituted for a previously named "fictitious" defendant.

Rule 15(c) is different. It is intended not for the "ignorant" plaintiff, but for one who is "mistaken" concerning the identity of the proper party and must, therefore, "change" the party against whom a claim is asserted. By its express language, Rule 15(c) does not apply to a Rule 9(h) amendment identifying a fictitious party.

1. <u>Rule 15(c) Does Not Apply to this Case Because Plaintiff Did Not "Change" a</u> <u>Party.</u>

The cornerstone of Anderson's Motion to Reconsider under Rule 15(c) in the Trial Court and her argument here is her assertion that "but for the mistaken belief that General Motors manufactured the clockspring, ALPS would have been named in the original Complaint." Anderson seeks refuge in the language of Rule 15(c) which allows relation back if the party to be brought in by amendment "knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against the party." MRCP 15(c)(2).

The relation back provisions of Rule 15(c) apply in two circumstances: (1) when a claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading; and (2) when the amendment is "an amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted." The first circumstance is not in issue in this case – there was no change in the claim made against an existing party. Thus, to fall under Rule 15(c), Anderson must rely instead on the provision relating to an "amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted." The last sentence of Rule 15(c)(2) provides unequivocally that "an amendment pursuant to Rule 9(h) is not an amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted."

And erson's argument for the application of Rule 15(c) ignores the fact that the "knowledge," "prejudice" and "but for a mistake" provisos of Rule 15(c)(2) simply do not apply unless the proposed amendment is one "changing the party against whom a claim is asserted."

Anderson cites *Estes v. Starnes*, 732 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1999). *Estes* involved a suit arising out of a traffic accident. Plaintiff was mistaken as to whether Mr. Starnes or his minor son was driving the car involved. Plaintiff sued the father, rather than the son. Ultimately, Plaintiff was allowed to amend her complaint because she had sued the wrong party. The result in *Estes* is explained by and, indeed, dependent upon the fact that the Motion to Amend upon which relation back was sought was "to change the party against whom the claim is asserted." 732 So.2d at 252 (¶3). In this case, Anderson does not claim she sued the wrong party. GM is still a named defendant. Instead, she merely substituted ALPS in place of a previously-unnamed fictitious defendant – as contemplated under Rule 9(h). *Estes* is distinguishable.

Anderson argues the significance of this Court's ruling in *Womble v. Singing River Hospital*, 618 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1993) – a medical malpractice case. That opinion appears to disregard the last sentence of Rule 15(c)(2), which unambiguously provides that "an amendment pursuant to Rule 9(h) is not an amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted." The explanation, and point of distinction, of the *Womble* decision can be found, however, in the Court's finding that the Plaintiff could not invoke Rule 9(h), because Plaintiff was not "ignorant" (in the sense contemplated in Rule 9(h)) of the physicians' identities. 618 So.2d at 1267. In this case, the Trial Court properly accepted Anderson's assertion in her Complaint and her response to ALPS Motion for Summary Judgment that Rule 9 (h) applied because she was "ignorant of ALPS' identity." (R. at 308.) Anderson does not now claim she was not "ignorant" in the Rule 9(h) sense. Rule 15(c) does not apply in this case and *Womble* is distinguishable.

2. Rule 9(h) Governs This Case and Requires "Reasonable Diligence."

Because Rule 15(c) simply does not fit the procedural facts of this case, Anderson's attempt to substitute ALPS for a previously named "fictitious" party must be supported, if at all, on the provisions of Rule 9(h).

Pursuant to Rule 9(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, "when a party is ignorant of the name of an opposing party and so alleges in his pleading, the opposing party may be designated by any name, and when his true name is discovered the process and all pleadings and proceedings in the action may be amended by substituting the true name and giving proper notice to the opposing party." See M.R.C.P. 9(h). That is precisely what Anderson attempted to do. This Court has consistently held that "the purpose of Rule 9(h) is to provide a mechanism to bring in responsible parties, known, but not identified, who can only be ascertained through the use of judicial mechanisms such as discovery. It is not designed to allow tardy plaintiffs to sleep on their rights." *Bedford Health Properties v. Estate of Williams*, 946 So.2d 335, 341 (¶ 13) (Miss. 2006) (quoting Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services, 704 So.2d 1016, 1019 (¶14) (Miss. 1997)).

The relation-back privilege provided for fictitious parties requires the plaintiff to actually exercise a reasonably diligent inquiry into the identity of the fictitious party. *See Doe*, 704 So.2d at 1019 (¶13). Furthermore, this diligence must entail the actual exercise of "due diligence"

rather than a mere finding that the party could have found the defendant's identity if it had exercised "due diligence." *Id.* at 1019 (¶16); *Nguyen v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co.*, 859 So.2d 971, 979 (¶34) (Miss. 2002).

In *Doe*, this Court emphasized that "[t]he trial court's review of whether the plaintiff exercised a reasonably diligent inquiry is to be strict," and that "Mississippi already enjoys one of the nation's longest general statute of limitations. This need not be judicially expanded to allow non-diligent plaintiffs the opportunities to sleep on their rights indefinitely." *Id.*, 704 So.2d at 1019 (¶13).

Anderson is precisely the type of "tardy plaintiff" who "slept on her rights" regarding her product liability claims against ALPS.

D. <u>Under Either Rule "Reasonable Diligence" Is Required After Learning The Identity</u> Of A Fictitious Or Mistakenly Identified Defendant

In its ruling on April 20, the Court recognized that "9(h) requires that the Plaintiff act diligently to substitute parties when fictitious parties are named." (Transcript, April 20, 2009 at p. 36, APPT R.E. 106, lines 12-14.) On reconsideration, the Trial Court rejected Anderson's arguments under Rule 15(c) about ALPS' notice or lack of prejudice. The Trial Court found that under either Rule 9(h) or Rule 15(c) Anderson's unexplained nine month delay from November 2007 until September of 2008 before taking any action to bring ALPS into the case was unreasonable, and, for that reason, that Anderson's Second Amended Complaint naming ALPS did not relate back.

In her arguments in the Trial Court and to this Honorable Court, Anderson seems to have conceded that in order to take advantage of the relation back provisions of either Rule 9(h) or Rule 15(c), a plaintiff must exercise reasonable diligence to resolve the "ignorance" (Rule 9(h)) or "mistake" (Rule 15(c)). The issue Anderson presents to this Honorable Court is whether there is any reasonable diligence requirement in moving forward to seek leave to file an amended

15

complaint once the "ignorance" or "mistake" is resolved. In her brief to this Honorable Court, Anderson says she has been unable to locate a Mississippi Supreme Court decision "that has addressed the issue of the time to amend the complaint after reasonable diligence has been exercised in ascertaining the fictitious party's identity." (Appellant's Brief at p. 13.) In other words, Anderson suggests that Mississippi law thus far is silent on whether, once ignorance or a mistake is resolved, the party must still act with reasonable diligence in order to file a pleading that will relate back. In fact, this Court has considered the reasonableness of a plaintiff's actions in seeking to amend a complaint after issues relating to identification of the proper party have been resolved.

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